

REVISED BY-LAWS
OF
AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF STRATIGRAPHIC PALYNOLOGISTS, INC.
A Non-Profit Corporation (501)(c)(6)

Revisions

¹ Approved by the Board of Directors of AASP, Inc. for membership vote on October 17, 1984

Approved by membership vote on March 16, 1985 (Closing date for receipt of ballots)

² Approved by the Board of Directors of AASP, Inc. for membership vote on October 27, 1999

Approved by membership vote on August 15, 2000 (Closing date for receipt of ballots)

REVISED BY-LAWS
OF
AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF STRATIGRAPHIC PALYNOLOGISTS, INC.
A Non-Profit Corporation (501)(c)(6)

ARTICLE ONE
OFFICES

Principal Office

1.01 The principal office of the corporation in the State of Texas shall be located in the City or Arlington, County of Tarrant. The corporation may have such other offices, either within or without the State of Texas, as the Board of Directors may determine or as the affairs of the corporation may require from time to time.

Registered Office and Registered Agent

1.02 The corporation shall have and continuously maintain in the State of Texas a registered office, and registered agent whose office is identical with such registered office, as required by the Texas Non-Profit Corporation Act. The registered office may be, but need not be, identical with the principal office of the corporation in the State of Texas, and the address of the registered office may be changed from time to time by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE TWO
MEMBERS

Classes of Members

2.01 Membership shall be open to all persons and organizations interested in the science of palynology and the corporation shall have four classes of members. The designation of such classes and the qualifications and rights of the members of such classes shall be as follows:

- (a) Individual Members - Individual members shall be persons who are or have been engaged in the science or practice of palynology; who are or have been engaged in the gathering and dissemination of palynological information; or who are engaged in paleontological, botanical, geological, or other pursuits compatible with the objectives of the association.
- (b) Institutional Members - Institutional members shall be those firms, institutions of higher learning, or other organizations interested in fostering the science of palynology. Institutional members shall have the right to appoint a person as their designated representative. Such person shall enjoy all the privileges of the association except that they, or their representatives, shall not hold office or vote. Notwithstanding any of the above limitations, a designated representative of an institutional member, who is also an individual member, may so continue to exercise his/her membership rights and privileges on his/her own behalf.

of (c) Honorary Members - Honorary membership will be awarded on a majority vote of the Board
active Directors to persons, members or non-members of AASP, who have made distinguished
contributions to the science of palynology. Such persons will enjoy all privileges of
membership, but will not be required to pay annual dues.

(d) Retired Members - Retired members shall be persons who are retired from professional
activities in palynology. Retired members will pay annual dues to AASP at a rate to be
established by the Board of Directors, and will enjoy all privileges of active membership,
with the exception of receiving the journal Palynology. A retired member can revert to
full individual membership at any time.

Election of Members

2.02 Persons, firms, institutions or organizations desiring membership shall submit their applications,
accompanied by their first year's annual dues (in US dollars) to the Secretary-Treasurer.

Voting Rights

2.03 Each member in good standing is entitled to vote, and shall have one vote on each matter submitted
to a vote of the members.

Termination of Voting Rights

2.04 The Board of Directors, by affirmation vote of two-thirds of all of the members of the Board may,
after an appropriate hearing, suspend or expel a member for just cause. Further, the Board of Directors
may, by a majority vote, suspend or expel any member who shall be in default in the payment of dues for
the period fixed in Article II of these by-laws.

Resignation

2.05 Any member may resign by filing a written resignation with the Secretary-Treasurer, but such
resignation shall not relieve the member so resigning of the obligation to pay any dues, assessments, or
other charges theretofore accrued and unpaid.

Reinstatement

2.06 A former member dropped for non-payment of dues may, upon written request to the Secretary and
payment of current dues, be reinstated to membership.

Transfer of Membership

2.07 Membership in this corporation is not transferable or assignable.

Definition of Member in Good Standing

2.08 A member in good standing is defined as one who is not in arrears of dues as defined in the by-laws.

ARTICLE THREE MEETINGS OF MEMBERS

Annual Meeting

3.01 An annual meeting of the members shall be held each year for the purpose of holding scientific
sessions, for the transaction of other business as may come before the meeting, and for installing the new

Board of Directors. An Annual Business Meeting shall be an integral part of the annual meeting. The Annual Business Meeting shall be scheduled between scientific sessions of the annual meeting, and its purpose shall be to report to the membership the state of affairs of the corporation. The agenda for the Annual Business Meeting shall be listed in an official publication of the corporation prior to the annual meeting. A quorum for the Annual Business Meeting shall be a majority of the members registered for the annual meeting.

Special Meeting

3.02 A special business meeting of the corporation may be called by the President, the Board of Directors, or not less than a majority of the members by petition. Prior to calling such a special meeting, the Secretary-Treasurer must be informed sixty (60) days before the meeting. The Secretary-Treasurer will then notify the general membership at least thirty (30) days before the special meeting.

Place of Meeting

3.03 The Board of Directors may designate any place, either within or without the State of Texas, as the place of meeting for any annual meeting or for any special meeting.

Notice of Meeting

3.04 Written or printed notice stating the place, day and hour of any regularly scheduled meeting of members shall be delivered, either personally or by mail, to each member, not less than ten (10) days before the date of such meeting, by or at the direction of the President, or the Secretary-Treasurer, or the officers or persons calling the meeting. In case of a special meeting, or when required by statute or these by-laws, the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called shall be stated in the notice. If mailed, the notice of a meeting shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited in the mail and addressed to the member at his or her address as it appears on the record of the corporation, with postage thereon prepaid.

Informal Action by Members

3.05 Any action required by law to be taken at a meeting of the members or any action which may be taken at a meeting of the members may be taken without a meeting, if consent in writing, setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by all of the members entitled to vote with respect to the subject matter thereof.

Quorum

3.06 Members holding a majority of the votes entitled to be cast, represented in person or by proxy at any such meeting, shall constitute a quorum except at the Annual Business Meeting for which a quorum is defined in Article 3.01. If a quorum, as defined in these by-laws, is not present at any meeting of members, a majority of the members present may adjourn the meeting.

Proxies

3.07 At any meeting of members, a member entitled to vote may vote by proxy executed in writing by the member or by his/her duly authorized attorney-in-fact. No proxy shall be valid after eleven (11) months from the date of its execution, unless otherwise provided in the proxy.

3.08 The conduct of all business of the membership not covered by the constitution will be governed by Robert's Rules of Order.

ARTICLE FOUR
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

General Powers

4.01 The affairs of the corporation shall be managed by its Board of Directors. Directors need not be residents of Texas, but must be members of the corporation. Persons serving on the Board of Trustees of the AASP Foundation may not at the same time serve as members of the Board of Directors of AASP, Inc. The Board of Directors shall authorize expenditures and special publications, submit to members proposals for amendments to these by-laws, fill vacancies *ad interim* occurring in any corporate office except that of President, to which the President-Elect succeeds automatically. It shall hear reports of all Standing Committees, Temporary Committees, and Corporate Officers as well as petitions from members.

Numbers and Tenure

4.02 The number of Directors shall be nine. Each Director shall hold office until his or her successor shall have been elected and until the next annual meeting of the members. The newly constituted Board of Directors shall take office at the end of the annual business meeting provided for in Article 3.01.

Regular Meetings

4.03 A regular annual meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held without other notice than this by-law, during, and at the same place, as the annual meeting of members. The Board of Directors may provide by resolution (a formal expression of opinion, will or intent, voted on by an official body or assembled group) the time and place, either within or without the State of Texas, for holding of additional regular meetings of the Board without other notice than such resolution. The mid-year meeting of the Board of Directors, elsewhere mentioned in these by-laws, is specifically an additional regular meeting of the Board of Directors.

Special Meetings

4.04 Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by or at the request of the President or by a majority of the Board of Directors. The person or persons authorized to call special meetings of the Board may fix any place, either within or without the State of Texas, as the place for holding any special meetings of the Board called by them. Actions of the Board of Directors' meetings shall be reported to the membership.

Notice

4.05 Notice of any special meeting of the Board of Directors shall be given at least ten (10) days previously thereto by written notice delivered personally or sent by mail or telegram to each Director at his/her address as shown by the record of the corporation. If mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited in the mail so addressed with postage thereon prepaid. If notice be given by telegram, such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when the telegram is delivered to the telegraph company. Any Director may waive notice of any meeting. The attendance of a Director at any meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except where a Director attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened. Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any regular or special meeting of the Board need be specified in the notice or waiver of notice of such meeting unless specifically required by law or by these by-laws.

Quorum

4.06 A majority of the Board of Directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the Board.

Manner of Acting

4.07 Actions by the Director shall require a simple majority vote of its members unless the act of greater number is required by law or by these by-laws. The conduct of all business of the Board of Directors not covered by the Constitution will be governed by Robert's Rules of Order.

Vacancies

4.08 Any vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors and any directorship to be filled by reason of an increase in the number Directors, shall be filled by action of the Board of Directors. A Director elected to fill a vacancy shall be elected for the unexpired term of his/her predecessor in office.

Compensation

4.09 Directors as such shall not receive any stated salaries for their services.

Informal Action by Directors

4.10 Any action required by law to be taken at a meeting of Directors, or any action which may be taken at a meeting of the Directors, may be taken without a meeting if a consent in writing setting forth the action so taken shall be signed by all of the Directors.

ARTICLE FIVE OFFICERS

Officers

5.01 The officers of the corporation shall be a President, President-Elect, Past-President, Secretary-Treasurer, Managing Editor, and four (4) Directors-at-Large, all nine (9) of whom shall be members of and constitute the Board of Directors.

Election and Term of Office

5.02 The officers of the corporation shall be appointed annually by the Board of Directors after the annual election of the Board of Directors, and after the newly constituted Board of Directors shall have taken office at the end of the annual business meeting. Further, the Board of Directors shall appoint officers to each office of the corporation as determined by the vote of the membership. Such vote by the membership shall be held in conjunction with the annual election of the Board of Directors. Except as stated in the Article 5.03, each officer shall hold office until his or her successor shall have been duly elected. The President, President-Elect, Past-President, and the Directors-at-Large shall not succeed themselves. The Secretary-Treasurer and Managing Editor may succeed themselves in office.

Vacancies

5.03 A vacancy in any office because of death, resignation, or otherwise, may be filled by a member appointed to such office by the Board of Directors. Such a member appointed shall remain in the office for the unexpired portion of the term.

President

5.04 The President shall be the principal executive officer of the corporation and shall in general supervise and control all of the business and affairs of the corporation. He or she shall preside at all meetings of the members and the Board of Directors. He or she may sign, with the Secretary-Treasurer or any other proper officer of the corporation authorized by the Board of Directors, and deed, mortgages, bonds, contracts, or other instruments which the Board of Directors have authorized to be executed, except in cases where the signing and execution thereof shall be expressly delegated by the Board of Directors or by these by-laws or by statute to some other officer or agent of the corporation; and in general he or she shall perform all duties incident to the office of President and such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors from time to time. He or she shall further appoint committees as provided in these by-laws. He or she shall with the concurrence of the Board of Directors appoint an Audit Committee of at least 2 members in good standing to review the Association's financial accounts no less frequently than every other year. This Audit Committee will report their findings at the next scheduled Board of Directors Meeting following the said audit.

President-Elect

5.05 The President-Elect shall be the Recording Secretary at all meetings of the corporation, and is responsible for distribution of the minutes to the Directors. In the absence of the President, the President-Elect shall perform the duties of the President, and when so acting shall have all the powers of and be subject to the restrictions upon the President. The President-Elect shall perform such duties as from time to time may be assigned to him/her by the President or Board of Directors. Further, if the office of President is vacated, the President-Elect shall become President for the remainder of that term. The President-Elect will succeed to the presidency.

Past-President

5.06 The Past-President shall perform such duties as from time to time assigned to him/her by the President or Board of Directors. The President will succeed to the office of Past-President.

Secretary-Treasurer

5.07 The Secretary-Treasurer shall keep corporate records in one of more books provided for that purpose; give all notices in accordance with the provisions of these by-laws or as required by law; be custodian of the corporate records; keep current lists of the membership of all committees; keep a register of the post office address of each member which shall be furnished to the Secretary-Treasurer by each member; and, in general, perform all duties incident to the office of Secretary-Treasurer and such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to him or her by the President or by the Board of Directors.

In addition, he or she shall have charge and custody of and be responsible for all funds of the corporation, receive and give receipts for all monies due and payable to the corporation from any source whatsoever, and deposit all such monies in the name of the corporation in such banks, trust companies, or other depositories as shall be selected in accordance with the provisions of Article 8 of these by-laws. He or she may disburse funds in payment of normal, recurring obligations of the corporation. For non-recurring obligations, he or she may also disburse, on his or her own authority, amounts not in excess of two thousand dollars, (\$2000.00) in payment for items for which the corporation may become obligated; amounts in excess of two thousand dollars (\$2000.00) shall be disbursed by him or her only with the approval of the majority of the Board of Directors. He or she shall report on the corporation's financial and membership status at the Annual Business Meeting, to the Board of Directors, and at other times upon request of the President. He or she shall prepare and submit to appropriate governmental agencies all financial and administrative forms required to obtain and maintain a tax exempt status as a nonprofit corporation.

Managing Editor

5.08 The Managing Editor shall be responsible for dissemination of news and technical information among the membership through the medium of the Newsletter and/or other publications, as the Board of Directors may from time to time direct.

Directors-at-Large

5.09 The Board of Directors shall include four (4) Directors-at-Large who shall be elected for two (2) year terms with two (2) Directors-at-Large to be elected annually.

ARTICLE SIX General

6.01 The Board of Directors may establish permanent committees to carry out the functions and purposes of the corporation and such committees shall only have the powers and rights specifically conferred upon it by the Board of Directors and by these by-laws. In addition to the permanent committees that may be established by the Board, temporary committees may be established to perform special needs and projects as needed by the President or the Board. Such temporary committees may be continued through succeeding administrations until discharged by the President or the Board.

Terms of Office

6.02 Each member of a committee shall continue as such until the next annual meeting of the members of the corporation or until his or her successor is appointed, unless the committee shall be sooner terminated.

Vacancies

6.03 Vacancies in the membership of any committee may be filled by appointments made in the same manner as provided in the case of the original appointments.

Quorum

6.04 Unless otherwise provided in the resolution of the Board of Directors designating a committee, a majority of the whole committee shall constitute a quorum and the act of a majority of the members shall be the act of the committee.

Rules

6.05 No committee may adopt rules for its own government that are inconsistent with these by-laws or with rules adopted by the Board of Directors.

Permanent Committees

6.06 The following committees are permanent committees established by these by-laws and are to be conducted within the following guidelines:

a. Nominating Committee

- not
1. The Nomination Committee shall consist of five members in good standing who are current corporation officers or officers of AASP Foundation.
 2. The Nominating Committee and its chairman shall be appointed by the incoming Board during the annual meeting. Members of the Nominating Committee shall serve for one term.

- will
3. Persons nominated by the Committee shall be contacted by telephone to determine:
 - a) That they are members in good standing. (Affirmative answers should be confirmed by the Secretary-Treasurer prior to candidate selection).
 - b) That they are willing to be nominated for a particular office, and that they serve if selected and subsequently elected.
 - c) That they will be able to attend the mid-year and annual executive meetings during the tenure of their office.
 4. Following his or her verbal acceptance, the nominee should be sent a form letter of acceptance to sign and return to the Chairman. The Nominating Committee Chairman is responsible for drafting, sending, and receiving these letters.
 5. Candidates for each office should be selected from among the nominees by majority vote of the members of the Nominating Committee. The Nominating Committee Chairman has the responsibility for informing each candidate of his or her selection and the office for which he or she is a candidate.
 6. The list of candidates, their biographies, and their letters of acceptance constitute the final report of the Nominating Committee. The report must be sent to the Board of Directors by February 15 by the Secretary-Treasurer. Except for obvious errors, the report should be accepted by the Board of Directors without alteration. The Board of Directors will resolve any problems and present a ratified list to the President by March 1. Following presentation, a copy of the ratified report will be given to the Ballot Committee Chairman, who will have been selected from among the Directors-at-Large at the preceding annual meeting.
 7. The final list of candidates may be augmented by petition, as provided for in Article 7.03 of the AASP by-laws.
- b. Ballot Committee - the Ballot Committee shall be appointed during the annual meeting by the incoming Board of Directors. The committee shall consist of one member of the Directors-at-Large as Chairman, and two other members in good standing. The Ballot Committee shall be charged with preparation, distribution, receiving and counting ballots cast in elections or other matters requiring a vote by the members. The Ballot Committee shall hold all ballots until the specified closing date, at which time ballots shall be opened and counted and the results reported to the Board of Directors through the Secretary-Treasurer. The President shall notify all candidates of the election results.
 - c. Editorial Board - The Editorial Board shall be appointed each year by the Managing Editor. The committee shall consist of the Managing Editor as Chairman, and as many members as the Editor decides to choose. The Editorial Board shall be responsible for administration of the corporation's publication program, and for the editing, printing and distribution of its publications.
 - d. Annual Meeting Committee - appointed for each specific annual meeting site by the Board of Directors sufficiently far ahead to make proper arrangements. Each Annual Meeting Committee shall make all local arrangements and also be in charge of the technical program for the annual meeting. Each Annual Meeting Committee chairman shall appoint one of the committee members as Treasurer of the committee or shall himself or herself serve as Treasurer and shall be so designated, as per Chairman-Treasurer. The

Annual Meeting Committee Treasurer shall have charge and custody of and be responsible for all funds of the Annual Meeting Committee, receive and give receipts for all monies due and payable to the Annual Meeting Committee from any source whatsoever, and deposit all such monies in the name of the Annual Meeting Committee in such banks, trust companies, or depositories as shall be selected in accordance with the provisions of Article 8 of these by-laws. He or she may disburse funds in payment of obligations of the Annual Meeting Committee as his or her own authority after consultations with the Committee Chairman should the Chairman be the person other than the Committee Treasurer. He or she shall present a status to the Board of Directors at each regularly scheduled meeting of the Board of Directors during the tenure of the Annual Meeting Committee. These reports may be presented by the Annual Meeting Committee Chairman for the Committee Treasurer. In a period of time not to exceed four (4) months following the close of the Annual Meeting, all obligations of the Annual Meeting Committee shall be settled and all remaining funds from any source shall be turned over to the Secretary-Treasurer of the corporation for deposit in the general funds of the association.

ARTICLE SEVEN NOMINATION AND ELECTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Procedure

7.01 The Nominating Committee shall propose no more than two (2) candidates for each Board membership. The Nominating Committee shall submit to the Secretary-Treasurer by February 15 of each year a list of nominees, together with a statement that all submitted nominees will accept the positions upon election. Not later than May 1, the names of candidates for the Board as submitted by the Nominating Committee shall be mailed to the membership. This communication may quote Article 7.02. (These dates assume a fall Annual Meeting. Deadlines stated in this Article may be altered as need be to meet Annual Meeting dates).

7.02 Additional nominations may be made by any member in good standing by submitting a petition, signed by at least nine (9) other members in good standing, to the Secretary-Treasurer by June 15.

7.03 The Ballot Committee shall arrange for the preparation and distribution of the ballots to members on or before July 1. Ballots returned to the Ballot Committee prior to the final closing date of August 15 shall be valid; abstaining votes and ballots received later than the closing date shall not be valid. A plurality vote shall be necessary and sufficient for election. In the event of a tie vote, a runoff election will be held. The Ballot Committee shall count all valid ballots and report the results to the Board of Directors through the Secretary-Treasurer.

7.04 Directors or officers are to be elected as specified by the by-laws. Such election may be continued by mail in such manner as the Board of Directors shall determine.

ARTICLE EIGHT CONTRACTS, CHECKS, DEPOSITS, AND FUNDS

Contracts

8.01 The Board of Directors may authorize any officer or officers, agent or agents of the corporation, in addition to the officers so authorized by these by-laws, to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the corporation. Such authority may be general or confined to specific instances.

Checks and Drafts

8.02 All checks, drafts, or orders for the payment of money, notes, or other evidence of indebtedness issued in the name of the corporation shall be signed by such officer or officers, agent or agents of the corporation and in such manner as set forth in Article 5.06 of these by-laws or as shall from time to time be determined by resolution of the Board of Directors. In the absence of such determined by the Board of Directors, such checks, drafts, or other evidence of indebtedness issued in the name of the corporation shall be signed by the Secretary-Treasurer, and countersigned by the President or President-Elect of the corporation.

Deposit

8.03 All funds of the corporation shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of the corporation in such banks, trust companies, or other depositories as the Board of Directors may select.

8.04 The Board of Directors may accept on behalf of the corporation any contribution, gift, bequest, or device for the general purposes or for any special purpose of the corporation.

ARTICLE NINE BOOKS AND RECORDS

9.01 The corporation shall keep correct and complete books and records of account and shall also keep minutes of the proceedings of the meetings of its members, Board of Directors, and shall keep at the registered or principal office a record giving the names and addresses of the members entitled to vote. All books and records of the corporation may be inspected by any member or his agent or attorney for any proper purpose at any reasonable time. All historical books and records are housed at the Hun Institute for Botanical Documentation, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania.

ARTICLE TEN FISCAL YEAR

10.01 The fiscal year of the corporation shall begin on the first day of October and end on the last day in September of each year.

ARTICLE ELEVEN DUES

Annual Dues

11.01 The Board of Directors may determine from time to time the amount of the annual dues payable in United States currency to the corporation by members of each class.

Payment of Dues

11.02 Dues shall be payable on or before the first day of January in each calendar year. Dues of a new member shall be payable upon application for membership and shall be applied to the year in which received unless specified differently by the applicant.

Default and Termination of Membership

11.03 When any member of any class shall be in arrears in the payment of dues after January 1 of the current year, their membership may thereupon be terminated by the Board of Directors, if after written

notification by the Secretary-Treasurer, the arrearages are not paid within sixty (60) days of the notification.

ARTICLE TWELVE WAIVER OF NOTICE

12.01 Whenever any notice is required to be given under the provisions of the Texas Non-Profit Corporation Act or under the provisions of the articles of incorporation or the by-laws of the corporation, a waiver thereof in writing signed by the person or persons entitled to such notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice.

ARTICLE THIRTEEN PUBLICATIONS

Newsletter

13.01 The corporation shall publish a newsletter four (4) times per calendar year.

Election Information

13.02 One publication of the corporation shall include the slate of nominees for office and other publications shall announce election results.

Special Publication

13.03 Special publication may be prepared and published by the Publications Committee.

Circulation

13.04 The above publications shall not be distributed to members only, but shall be made available at prevailing price to any interested person or organization upon request and further, any interested person or organization may contribute articles and other information for use in these publications.

ARTICLE FOURTEEN AMENDMENTS TO THE BY-LAWS

14.01 Amendments to these by-laws may be proposed by the (1) Board of Directors or, (2) submitted to the Secretary-Treasurer by petition and signed by at least ten (10) members in good standing. The Board of Directors shall review each proposed amendment for clarity of meaning and to insure compatibility with other parts of the by-laws. Proposed amendments, if approved by the Board of Directors, and with the approval of the petitioners, shall (1) be submitted to the members together with a mail ballot which shall state a closing date for ballots to be received by the Ballot Committee, such date to be not less than forty-five (45) days after ballots are mailed or, (2) the amendment(s) may be voted who have executed proxies in writing or by their duly authorized attorneys-in-fact as prescribed in Article 3.07 of these by-laws, and in either case shall be passed by a two-thirds affirmative vote of the members voting. "Members" as used in this Article refers to members in good standing as defined in Article 2.08 of these by-laws.

Proposed by-law amendments shall be published in the AASP Newsletter at least six (6) months prior to being put to the membership for vote to insure that adequate time for discussion and communication with the By-laws Committee is available to the membership.

Ballots shall be returned to the Ballot Committee and counted and reported as provided for in these by-laws.

Results of voting on amendments to the by-laws shall be reported to the membership in a publication of the corporation.

The first revision of the AASP by-laws were approved by the Board of Directors, for membership vote, on October 17, 1984 at the 17th Annual Meeting, Arlington, Virginia.

Officers present: John A. Clendening, President
Vaughn M. Bryant, President-Elect
Kenneth M. Piel, Secretary-Treasurer
Douglas J. Nichols, Managing Director
James E. Canright, Director-at-Large
Lucy E. Edwards, Director-at-Large
Jocelyne A., Legault, Director-at-Large
Virgil D. Wiggins, Director-at-Large

By-laws Committee:

John A. Clendening, Chairman
Don G. Benson, Jr., Member
William C. Cornell, Member

The second revision of the AASP by-laws were approved by the Board of Directors, for membership vote, on October 27, 1999 at the 32nd Annual Meeting, Savannah, Georgia

Officers present: Christopher H. Denison, President
Rolf A. Mathewes, Past-President
Fredrick J. Rich, President-Elect
Thomas D. Demchuk, Secretary-Treasurer
David K. Goodman, Managing Editor
Robert A. Cushman Jr., Director-at-Large
Joyce Lucas-Clark, Director-at-Large
Paul K. Strother, Director-at-Large
Pierre A. Zippi, Director-at-Large

The principal office of the corporation in the State of Texas, as of the date of revision of these by-laws, shall be located in the City of Arlington, County of Tarrant.

The registered office of the corporation in the State of Texas, and the registered agent whose office is identical with such registered office, as required by the Texas Non-Profit Corporation Act, is, on the date of revision of these by-laws, identical with the principal office of the corporation in the State of Texas. The street address of the registered office of the corporation is 1708 Autumn Lane, Arlington, Texas 76012 and the name of the registered agent is Robert T. Clarke.

These by-laws were approved by membership vote on March 16, 1985 (the closing date for receipt of ballots).

ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION
OF
AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF
STRATIGRAPHIC PALYNOLOGISTS, INC.

We, the undersigned persons of the age of twenty-one (21) years or more, at least two (2) of whom are citizens of the State of Texas, acting as incorporators of a corporation under the Texas Non-Profit Corporation Act, do hereby adopt the following Articles of Incorporation for such corporation:

ARTICLE ONE

The name of the corporation is American Association of Stratigraphic Palynologists, Inc.

ARTICLE TWO

The corporation is a non-profit corporation.

ARTICLE THREE

The period of its duration is perpetual.

ARTICLE FOUR

The purposes for which this corporation is formed are:

(1) The specific and primary purpose are to promote the science of palynology, especially as it relates to stratigraphic application and biostratigraphy, for and in behalf of the public interest, and to foster the spirit of scientific research among its members and others engaged in this field of science so that information and data on the subject may be discovered and gathered, and then disseminated to its members and to the public alike and in doing so, educate its members and the public in general in this area of science.

(2) The general purposes and powers are to have and exercise all rights and powers conferred on non-profit corporations under the laws of Texas, or which may hereafter be conferred, including the power to contract, rent, buy, or sell personal or real property; provided, however, that this corporation shall not except to an insubstantial degree, engage in Any activities or exercise any powers that are not in furtherance of the primary powers of this corporation.

(3) Notwithstanding any other provision of these Articles of Incorporation, the corporation shall not conduct or carry on any activities not permitted to be conducted or carried on by an organization exempt from taxation under Section 501 (c) (6) of the Internal Revenue Code and its regulations as they now exist or as they may hereafter be amended.

This corporation is organized pursuant to the Texas Non-Profit Corporation Act and does not contemplate pecuniary gain or profit to the members thereof and is organized for non-profit purposes.

ARTICLE FIVE

The assets of the corporation in the event of dissolution shall be applied and distributed as follows:

- (1) All liabilities and obligations of the corporation shall be paid, satisfied and discharged.
- (2) All assets held by the corporation upon conditions requiring return, transfer or conveyance, which conditions occurs by reason of the dissolution, shall be returned, transferred or conveyed in accordance with such requirements.
- (3) All other remaining assets and income of the corporation shall be distributed and dedicated to another non-profit organization which claims exemption from federal income tax under Section 501 (c)(6) of the Internal Revenue Code.

ARTICLE SIX

The street address of the initial registered office of the corporation is 1338 Naples Drive, Dallas, Texas 75232 and the name of its initial registered agent at such address is Robert T. Clarke.

ARTICLE SEVEN

The number of directors constituting the initial Board of Directors of the corporation is seven (7) and the names and addresses of the persons who are to serve as the initial directors are:

Donald W. Engelhardt
Amoco Production Co.
P.O. Box 3092
Houston, TX 77001

Harry A. Leffingwell
Union Oil Research Center
P.O. Box 76
Brea, CA 92621

Robert T. Clarke
Mobil Oil Corporation
P.O. Box 900
Dallas, TX 75221

Richard W. Hedlund
Amoco Production Co.
P.O. Box 591
Tulsa, OK 74102

Wayne W. Brideaux
Amoco Canada Petroleum Co., Ltd.
444 - 7th Avenue, S.W.
Calgary, Alberta
Canada T2P 0Y2

Geoffrey Norris
Department of Geology
University of Toronto
Toronto, Ontario
Canada M5W 1A1

Warren S. Drugg
Chevron Oil Field Research Company
P.O. Box 446
La Habra, CZ 90631

ARTICLE EIGHT

The name and street address of each incorporator is:

Kenneth R. Guest
920 Mercantile Securities Building
Dallas, TX 75201

Gail Profitt
920 Mercantile Securities Building
Dallas, TX 75201

Randall F. Adair
920 Mercantile Securities Building
Dallas, TX 75201